IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

**FILED**  
SUPREME COURT

MAR 8 1983

CLERK SUPREME COURT

By: *[Signature]*  
Deputy Clerk

CONFIDENTIAL

CASE NO: 70,587

THE FLORIDA BAR,  
Complainant,  
v.  
DAVID E. DESERIO,  
Respondent.

---

RESPONDENT'S INITIAL BRIEF

SCOTT K. TOZIAN, ESQUIRE  
Counsel for the Respondent  
412 East Madison Street  
Suite 909  
Tampa, Florida 33602  
(813)273-0063

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This disciplinary proceeding is before this Court upon Respondent's Petition for Review of the Report of Referee. The complaint consisted of two counts, the second of which The Florida Bar voluntarily dismissed prior to the trial in this cause. [R. 13]. With regard to Count I, the Referee recommended the Respondent be found guilty of "all allegations, each and everyone". [R. 149]. At least one factual finding of the Referee is not relevant to the issue of misconduct. Moreover, the Referee makes factual findings constituting misconduct which were not alleged by the Bar in its complaint. Respondent seeks review of these factual findings on the basis that they were not charged in the Bar's complaint, and thus the Respondent was not noticed, nor could he adequately defend.

Furthermore, the Referee makes findings of fact which were based exclusively upon hearsay evidence. The Respondent likewise seeks review of the findings so predicated.

The Referee recommended that the Respondent be disbarred from the practice of law in Florida based upon the recommended findings of fact and recommended findings as to those disciplinary rules and provisions of the Integration Rule that were violated. The Respondent seeks review of this recommended discipline.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Symbols and abbreviations used in this brief are as follows:

R. = Page of transcript testimony taken at referee hearing on October 15, 1987.

Resp. Ex. = Respondent's Exhibit

Comp. Ex. = Complainant's Exhibit

Mot. Rehearing = Motion for Rehearing heard January 13, 1988.

The majority of the facts alleged by The Florida Bar in its complaint were admitted by Respondent. [R. 5 - 12]. Those facts are substantially as follows:

In April, 1984 Respondent introduced Mr. Dwight (D. C.) Wheeler to the complaining witness [REDACTED] [R. 14, 15]. Mr. Wheeler was interested in finding investors for an oil venture in which he was involved in Texas. [R. 15]. After speaking with Mr. Wheeler, Mr. [REDACTED] decided to participate in this venture. [R. 15]. Because Mr. [REDACTED] did not have the \$500,000.00 investment Mr. Wheeler requested, Mr. [REDACTED] mortgaged some Pasco County property which he owned. [R. 16]. As a result thereof, Mr. [REDACTED] borrowed \$450,000.00. [R. 19]. Initially, the entire \$450,000.00 was placed into Respondent's trust account. [R. 90]. From that amount, various closing costs were paid including a fee paid to Respondent for his work on the deal and the handling of the loan. [R. 87 and Comp. Ex. 2]. After the various closing costs were paid, \$339,267.93 remained for Mr. [REDACTED]'s use.

[Comp. Ex. 2]. Of that amount, \$234,325.00 was earmarked for payment to Mr. Wheeler as Mr. ██████████'s investment in the referenced oil deal. [R. 20, 21].

Within 24 hours of receipt of the mortgage funds, Respondent telephoned Dwight Wheeler and requested that Mr. Wheeler loan him \$23,500.000 from the \$234,325.00 amount which Respondent was holding for Mr. Wheeler's benefit. [R. 89, 90]. Mr. Wheeler authorized a deduction, in the amount of \$23,500.00, as a loan to Respondent. [R. 91]. On or about June 27 or 28, 1984 Respondent traveled to Texas to deliver to Dwight Wheeler the remaining \$210,825.00 Respondent was holding. [R. 92]. However, because Mr. Wheeler had loaned the \$23,500.00 to Respondent, the receipt signed by Mr. Wheeler acknowledged receipt of the full \$234,325.00 and thus gave Mr. ██████████ credit for all of the investment funds. [R. 24, 93, Comp. Ex. 3]. Although, Respondent did not advise Mr. ██████████ of the loan at the time it was made, Mr. ██████████ was so advised by Respondent in October, 1984. [R. 103]. Furthermore, the affidavit of ██████████ attached to Respondent's Motion for Rehearing indicates Mr. Wheeler also told Mr. ██████████ of the loan.

However, Mr. Wheeler ultimately failed to close the oil deal and Mr. ██████████ lost the \$210,000.00 given to Mr. Wheeler for that purpose. [R. 37, 109]. Mr. Wheeler also caused Respondent to lose \$20,000.00 for a check written on an

account closed, and moreover, Respondent filed a law suit against Mr. Wheeler on another oil deal and received a substantial default judgment against him. [R. 111].

Additionally, \$40,500.00 was held by Respondent in his trust account from the mortgage funds to make interest payments towards the mortgage taken out by Mr. [REDACTED] on the Pasco County property. [R. 98, 99]. Respondent made three of these monthly payments in the months of July, August and September of 1984. [R. 99]. However, Respondent deposited a check which was written on a closed account in the amount of \$20,000.00 from Dwight Wheeler, and an insufficient funds check in the amount of \$18,493.05 from Mr. [REDACTED] [REDACTED] into his trust account. [R. 61 - 63, 99 - 103]. Unfortunately, Respondent transferred monies out of his trust account on behalf of Mr. Wheeler and Mr. [REDACTED], equivalent to and contemporaneous with receipt of their checks, and therefore a deficit was created. [R. 61 - 63].

With respect to the [REDACTED] check the Park Bank did not notify Respondent of insufficient funds until October 23, 1984, nearly three months after the check had been deposited on July 28, 1984. [R. 62, 63]. Even The Florida Bar auditor found such an occurrence "unusual". [R. 62]. Accordingly, Respondent was unable to make the last three interest payments on behalf of Mr. [REDACTED] in the amount of \$6,500.00. [R. 99]. Litigation against the Park Bank is still pending based



upon the Bank's failure to timely notify Respondent of the returned check of [REDACTED] [R. 74]. Subsequent efforts to recover the \$20,000.00 from D. C. Wheeler were unsuccessful. [R. 72].

Notwithstanding the loss of over \$38,000.00, by reason of these two bad checks, Respondent replaced approximately \$18,000.00, as evidenced by the deficit balance of \$21,369.16 when the account was closed by Park Bank on December 17, 1984. [R. 113, Comp. Ex. 4].

The facts further showed that Respondent had trust account problems with incomplete trust records and commingling of personal and client funds. [R. 64, 65]. Respondent explained that the trust account problems were enhanced by the death of his accountant who never returned all of Respondent's trust records, and additional loss of records in moving his law office. [R. 108].

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Respondent seeks review of the Referee's Findings of Fact which were predicated solely upon the uncorroborated hearsay testimony of Dwight (D.C.) Wheeler, a convicted felon. Mr. Wheeler's testimony is the sole testimony which would indicate, in any fashion, that Respondent misappropriated the funds of Mr. ██████████

Additionally, Respondent seeks review of the Referee's finding that \$20,000.00 of client trust fund monies were utilized for Respondent's own purpose. Moreover, Respondent seeks review of the Referee's finding that Respondent failed to protect Mr. ██████████'s interest by not verifying the existence of a contract with Austin Oil. The Respondent objects to these latter two factual findings based upon the lack of "clear and convincing evidence" to support these findings and based upon the fact that the Bar does not allege that an attorney/client relationship existed or that Respondent used any trust monies for his own benefit. Basic due process motions would require notice of allegations of misconduct, prior to findings of wrongdoing.

Respondent further seeks review of the importance and or relevance of the Referee's finding that Respondent did not have Mr. ██████████'s permission to deduct \$23,500.00 from the funds tendered to Dwight Wheeler.

Finally, Respondent seeks review of the Referee's recommendation of disbarment which cannot stand in light of the total absence of any reliable, competent evidence of misappropriation on part of the Respondent. The Florida Bar has failed to meet its burden of proving its case by clear and convincing evidence, and in particular, the allegation of conduct involving fraud, deceit and misrepresentation. Accordingly, the Referee's recommendation of disbarment is too harsh and wholly inappropriate.

THE REFEREE ERRED IN HIS FINDINGS WHICH WERE BASED EXCLUSIVELY UPON THE HEARSAY TESTIMONY OF D. C. WHEELER IN THAT THE HEARSAY WAS TOTALLY UNRELIABLE AND UNCORROBORATED.

The Referee below found that "[a]fter arriving in Texas, the Respondent informed Mr. Wheeler that he had a cashier's check for \$210,825.00 rather than \$234,825.00 due to the fact that Mr. [REDACTED] owed him \$23,500.00 and had authorized him to reduce said amount from the \$234, 825.00 net proceeds of the mortgage." This finding, if upheld, constitutes the only conduct involving "fraud, deceit and misrepresentation" in the case below.

This finding was vehemently denied by Respondent at trial and the only evidence in support of this finding was the testimony of Bar investigator, Ernest Kirstein.

Mr. Kirstein testified, over the objection of Respondent's counsel, that he called a man named Dwight Wheeler in Odessa, Texas and spoke to him about this case. [R. 125]. Mr. Kirstein had never previously spoken with Mr. Wheeler. [R. 125]. Mr. Kirstein related that Mr. Wheeler claimed to have accepted \$210,825.00, instead of \$234,325.00 because Respondent stated Mr. [REDACTED] owed the difference to Respondent. [R. 128]. Despite receiving the lesser amount, Mr. Wheeler acknowledged signing a receipt for \$234,325.00, which even Mr. [REDACTED] agreed "never made sense". [R. 50].

Conversely, Respondent testified that Mr. Wheeler accepted the lesser amount of \$210,825.00, because Mr. Wheeler agreed to loan \$23,500.00 to Respondent, so that Respondent could satisfy a loan obligation, and that was why the receipt showed credit for \$234,325.00. The loan was from Mr. Wheeler and not from funds of Mr. [REDACTED] [R. 24, 93, Comp. Ex. 3].

The Referee obviously discarded the sworn testimony of Respondent and accepted Mr. Wheeler's hearsay statements as fact in finding Respondent guilty of conduct involving fraud, deceit and misrepresentation, notwithstanding the obvious inconsistency between Mr. Wheeler's hearsay explanation and the receipt acknowledging the tender of the \$234,325.00.

Even more disconcerting is the fact that the Referee accepted Mr. Wheeler's alleged statements as fact despite the fact that Mr. Wheeler bilked Mr. [REDACTED] out of \$210,825.00; despite the fact that Mr. Wheeler is serving 20 years in the Texas Penitentiary for numerous counts of theft in an oil and gas venture; [R. 133], despite the fact that the prosecutor who convicted Mr. Wheeler believed Mr. Wheeler committed perjury during his criminal trial; [Motion Rehearing], despite the fact that two Texas Rangers, an FBI Agent, an ex-Department of Public Safety Intelligence Officer, and an oil field theft investigator with the Texas Railroad Commission all testified at Mr. Wheeler's trial that his reputation for truth and

veracity was so bad that Mr. Wheeler was not worthy of belief; [Motion Rehearing], despite the fact that Samuel S. Duffey a Sarasota lawyer provided a statement under oath that he knew Mr. Wheeler and that Mr. Wheeler's reputation for truth and veracity is "very poor and his general reputation is that of a dishonest, deceitful, fraudulent individual"; [Motion Rehearing], despite the fact that Mr. Duffey further swore that he believes Mr. Wheeler "is vindictive against lawyers in general, and Mr. DeSerio in particular"; [Motion Rehearing], (emphasis added), and despite the fact that Mr. Wheeler refused to sign an affidavit prepared by The Florida Bar which set forth those statements The Florida Bar sought to introduce through the testimony of Mr. Kirstein. [R. 131 - 133].

Respondent acknowledges that Integration Rule 11.06(3)(a) characterizes the proceedings below as "neither civil or criminal but is a quasi-judicial administrative procedure". Moreover, this Honorable Court has previously held that "in disciplinary proceedings, the referee is not bound by technical rules of evidence". State v. Dawson, 111 So.2d 427 (Fla. 1959). More recently, this Court has reiterated that holding in The Florida Bar v. Vannier, 498 So.2d 896 (Fla. 1986). In Vannier, the hearsay evidence admitted was predominantly documents seized by the FBI and the court there found "that the hearsay in question was adequately authenticated and its reliability established. Id. at 898.

Clearly this Court has decided that although hearsay is admissible, the reliability of the hearsay must be weighed carefully. In fact, this Court will dismiss a disciplinary case involving a recommendation of disbarment wherein the hearsay is unreliable. State v. Junkin, 89 So.2d 481. (Fla. 1956).

Although there is a dearth of further case law in attorney disciplinary matters on the subject of the application of the hearsay rules of evidence, reference to other administrative proceedings and the case law relative thereto further supports Respondent's position. First, Section 120.58 of the Florida Statutes is a portion of the Administrative Procedure Act and reads in pertinent part:

"[h]earsay evidence may be used for the purpose of supplementing or explaining other evidence, but it shall not be sufficient in itself to support a finding unless it would be admissible over objection in civil actions."

Second, the courts of this state have held that, in administrative proceedings, the hearsay rule should not be totally abandoned. In Jones v. City of Hialeah, 294 So.2d 686, 687 (Fla. 3rd D.C.A. 1974), the court opined that "we do not agree with the conclusion that hearsay is strictly admissible in a quasi-judicial administrative hearing called to determine whether or not an individual is entitled to keep his job".

The court further proclaimed that:

"whether or not hearsay should be permitted at a particular administrative hearing boils down to a question of fundamental fairness. And, while in our state technical rules of evidence clearly do not apply in the same sense before administrative tribunals as they do in courts, we do not think the hearsay rule ought to be totally discarded, particularly in cases when individuals are threatened with serious deprivations, such as loss of job. at 688.

The court in Jones, was according these protections to police officers threatened with the loss of their jobs. Surely, the threatened loss of a livelihood established through 7 years of higher education and sixteen years of practice deserves the same modest protections. [R.78].

The proper rule thus established, this Court should now consider whether the hearsay tendered is sufficiently reliable so as to not violate notions of fundamental fairness. The federal courts have considered, inter alia, the following factors in weighing the reliability of hearsay; the identity of the hearsay declarant, whether he has a motive for untruth or bias, whether the hearsay is corroborated, whether the statements are written, signed and sworn as opposed to being oral, anonymous or unsworn, and the credibility of the witness testifying to the hearsay. Richardson v. Perales, 462 U.S. 389, 91 S.Ct. 1420 (1971), Calhoun v. Bailar, (9th Cir. 1980), 626 F.2d 145, 149.



In the case at bar, the hearsay declarant is a convicted felon who made oral, unsworn statements with, according to the affidavit of Samuel Duffey, Esquire, a motive to be untruthful. Additionally, the statements were totally uncorroborated and the declarant reputation for truth and veracity is beyond horrendous. One would indeed require an uncommonly fertile imagination to dream up a scenario fraught with less reliability. Accordingly, the Referee's findings of fact which are predicated upon the hearsay testimony of D. C. Wheeler cannot be upheld.

THE REFEREE'S FINDING THAT MR. ██████████ DID NOT AUTHORIZE RESPONDENT TO TAKE \$23,500.00 ASSUMES A RESPONSIBILITY THAT DID NOT EXIST AND THUS IS NOT A FACTUAL FINDING CONSTITUTING MISCONDUCT.

The Referee below found that "Mr. ██████████ did not authorize Respondent to take \$23,500.00 from the \$234,500.00 entrusted to Respondent". This finding assumes that Respondent needed Mr. ██████████'s permission, an assumption not supported by the competent, reliable evidence in the record.

Review of the record reveals that on or about June 26, 1984, Mr. ██████████ Respondent and officials of Metro Mortgage met to close the loan on the mortgage on the Pasco County property. [R. 45, 46, 88, 89, Comp. Ex. 2]. At that time, Mr. Wheeler was called to inform him that \$500,000.00 was not available, but only \$234,325.00. [R. 47,88]. Because Mr. Wheeler represented that he had already paid the money needed to start the deal, [R. 89], he agreed to accept the lesser sum of \$234,325.00.

Within 24 hours, Respondent spoke to Dwight Wheeler again, this time from The Park Bank in Clearwater. [R. 89]. Respondent requested a loan of \$23,500.00 from Dwight Wheeler from the money held by Respondent for Mr. Wheeler's benefit. [R. 89]. Mr. Wheeler agreed to loan Respondent the requested sum from the funds Respondent held. At that time, the funds were Mr. Wheeler's to do with as he pleased, so long as Mr.

██████████ was given proper credit towards the oil deal already funded by Mr. Wheeler. Of course, the receipt reflected, and all involved believed that Mr. ██████████ got this credit. [R. 93].

Accordingly, based upon the foregoing, authorization from Mr. ██████████ was neither necessary nor proper as the funds were reimbursement to Mr. Wheeler for the investment he claimed he had made.

Interestingly, even counsel for The Florida Bar admits that the funds were Mr. Wheeler's to loan in the following exchange with Respondent during cross-examination.

BY MS. MAHON:

Q. Why did you not - if Mr. Wheeler had agreed to loan you twenty-three thousand five hundred dollars, why did you not issue the full check of two hundred and thirty-four thousand three hundred and twenty-five dollars to Mr. Wheeler, and then have Mr. Wheeler issue you the money, whether it be by check or cash?

A. I could have done that, but I asked him if I could do it the other way when I was at the bank. That's exactly what I asked him.

Q. Do you know -

A. He said yes.

Q. Do you know whether that is a proper distribution of client funds?

A. I don't know why it wouldn't be.

It is obvious from the preceding colloquy that Bar Counsel believes that the transaction would have been proper if Respondent had handed Mr. Wheeler the full amount, only to have

Mr. Wheeler hand back \$23,500.00. However, for Respondent to, with consent, deduct the \$23,500.00 one day prior to delivering the funds, is somehow, improper. Respondent respectfully suggests that this shortsighted approach by Bar Counsel, places form over substance, and is absolutely illogical.

Therefore, the Referee's finding that Mr. [REDACTED]'s permission was necessary is incorrect and Bar Counsel apparently agrees. The finding that Mr. [REDACTED] did not authorize the deduction is true enough, but irrelevant.

THE REFEREE ERRED IN FINDING THAT RESPONDENT APPLIED \$20,000.00 IN CLIENT FUNDS TO HIS OWN PURPOSE, IN THAT SAID FINDING WAS NOT SUPPORTED BY CLEAR AND CONVINCING EVIDENCE AND RESPONDENT WAS NOT EVEN CHARGED WITH SUCH MISUSE IN THE COMPLAINT VIOLATING RESPONDENT'S RIGHT TO PROCEDURAL DUE PROCESS.

In his report the Referee finds that based upon Respondent's testimony, "Respondent utilized a minimum of \$20,000.00 of client trust monies for his own purpose and not for the purpose in which the money was entrusted to him". This finding is flatly wrong and unsupported by the evidence below.

In reaching the conclusion above the Referee relies upon the testimony of Respondent wherein Respondent explains a check he received from Mr. Wheeler deposited on August 25, 1984 to be applied to a business venture involving "The Phone Book". [R. 61, 99, 100, 118]. Upon receipt of Mr. Wheeler's \$20,000.00 check, Respondent disbursed funds in an equal amount to Thomas Jolitz, the same day. [R. 61, 99, 118]. Clearly, the funds were applied to their intended purpose to pay business expenses of "The Phone Book". [R. 100, 118]. Unfortunately, on September 10, 1984 the check of Mr. Wheeler was returned "account closed" and the funds never replaced by Mr. Wheeler. [R. 61].

At worst, Respondent imprudently issued a trust check for the purpose the funds were entrusted, i.e. business expenses of "The Phone Book". Had that check cleared there would have been no problem. In fact, the present Rules Regulating The Florida Bar allow the disbursement of trust funds from certain deposits

of uncollected funds thus, recognizing the need for expeditious disbursement. Rule 5-1.1(3)(f), Rules Regulating Trust Accounts. However, Respondent's error in disbursing trust funds on the uncollected funds of another check does not constitute an after the fact determination that he used such funds for his own purpose when the deposit check is returned.

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