IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA (Before a Referee)

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

Case No. 70,587 TFB No. 86-16,337(06A)

vs.

DAVID E. DESERIO,

Respondent.

MAR (35 3333) Tito (44 4 **1445 4647)**

THE FLORIDA BAR'S ANSWER BRIEF

BONNIE L. MAHON Assistant Staff Counsel The Florida Bar Suite C-49 Tampa Airport, Marriott Hotel Tampa, Florida 33607 (813) 875-9821

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

In response to Bar Counsel's inquiry, the respondent further testified as follows:

- Q. Were you involved in the venture with Mr. Wheeler and Mr. Jolitz regarding The Phone Book?
- A. There was a contract that was drawn up, and I don't remember whether I drew it or not, but I may have been mentioned in there, potentially having some right to The Phone Book.

I believe Mr. Wheeler had a right and Mr. Jolitz had a right, and I don't even remember, but I'm sure there was some mention of me in there having a position there, because I didn't represent either one of them.
(TR1.117,L.25; TR1.117,L.1-9).

There was further evidence that respondent was in fact a partner in "The Phone Book". Mr. Ernest Kirstein, a Florida Bar Staff Investigator, testified at the final hearing that during a conversation, Mr. Wheeler informed him that the respondent and Mr. Jolitz were his business partners in the venture called "The Phone Book". (TR1.130,L.17-21).

Based on the respondent's own testimony and the testimony of Ernest Kirstein, it was shown that the respondent used other client trust monies to finance a business venture called "The Phone Book", wherein he was a partner; such conduct clearly violates Integration Rule 11.02(4), with which the respondent was charged in The Bar's complaint.

The respondent further objects to the referee's finding that he used \$20,000.00 of clients' funds for his own purpose, since The Bar's complaint never mentioned the respondent's participation in "The Phone Book". The respondent is correct. The Bar's complaint did not contain facts regarding the respondent's partnership status in "The Phone Book". In fact, The Florida Bar did not know that the respondent was a partner in "The Phone Book" until the respondent himself testified about his participation therein.

The Florida Bar's complaint charged the respondent with failing to pay \$20,250.00 of Mr. Tassinari's trust funds to MacDill Columbus Corporation, with having a shortage in his trust account in excess of \$20,000.00, and with violating Integration Rule 11.02(4). (C.at p.4,5). Furthermore, the audit report of Pedro J. Pizarro, Branch Staff Auditor for The Florida Bar, was attached to The Bar's Complaint as "Exhibit D". (C.at p.5). Mr. Pizarro's audit report set forth the fact that respondent's trust account was short in excess of \$20,000.00 due to the bounced check of D.C. Wheeler and respondent's trust account check in the amount of \$20,000.00 made payable to Thomas Jolitz. (R. Bar Exhibit #4).

The respondent utilized D.C. Wheeler's bounced check for \$20,000.00 and his \$20,000.00 trust account check to Thomas Jolitz, to explain the shortage in his trust account and to explain his failure to pay \$20,250.00 worth of Mr. Tassinari's trust funds to MacDill Columbus Corporation.

Now the respondent asks this Court to overturn the referee's finding that he used client trust funds for his own use because The Bar did not allege those facts in its Complaint.

In <u>The Florida Bar vs. Stillman</u>, 401 So.2d 1306 (Fla. 1981), this Court held as follows:

"It was proper for the referee, in making his report, to include information not charged in The Florida Bar's Complaint. Evidence of unethical conduct, not squarely within the scope of The Bar's accusations, is admissible, and such unethical conduct, if established by

clear and convincing evidence, should be reported because it is relevant to the question of the respondent's fitness to practice law and thus relevant to the discipline to be imposed." (Stillman, at 1307).

The referee's finding was based on clear and convincing evidence established through the respondent's own testimony, and should be upheld.

THE REFEREE'S FINDING THAT RESPONDENT FAILED TO PROTECT MR. TASSINARI'S INTEREST IS SUPPORTED BY THE RECORD.

The respondent argues that the referee's finding that "Respondent was to protect Mr. Tassinari's interest" and failed to do so "in that he did not verify the existence of a contract with Austin Oil", was not supported by clear and convincing evidence.

Once again, the respondent's own testimony supports the referee's finding of fact. In response to his attorney's inquiry, the respondent testified as follows:

- Q. Now, again, what did you do, if anything, to ensure there actually was a deal going down?
- A. Well at the time of drafting, I said, "Butch, I would like to see--you know, is there a contract, or what stage of degrees, or address is it in?"

There were two points he brought up. He said he had an attorney in Eastland, Texas, and he gave me the name, and I do not have the name to this day, but I said, "Fine, let's go down there and see this attorney."

He said, "Well, we're modifying the agreement," and he explained to me that he would get me the agreement, more than happy to take me down and meet the lawyer and so on and so forth.

I said, "Fine, let's get on with it," and to look at the oil wells to see that it was real oil wells.

I had done other deals with Butch, and I didn't have any, you know, feeling that he was at that time--that there was, you know--we had just gotten through some other transactions--I mean they drilled--redrilled a sixteen thousand (16,000) foot well in Louisiana the previous year. I wasn't with him, involved in that, but I knew it was done. It was a four million dollar

(\$4,000,000.00) transaction.

So he said, "Fine."

So the next day we got in the car and we went down the road and he made some stops along the way, and we looked at the wells and got to the end of the day, and I went to the telephone, called the lawyer; the lawyer wasn't available.

We stayed over the next day. The lawyer was--I don't know if he was in Court, or he was--whatever he was doing, we had to go somewhere else, and I said, "Butch, I need you to get this agreement."

He said, "Don't worry, I'll see that you have it. If you don't get it before you go back, you'll get it. Don't worry about it."

But I did examine the wells. The wells were there. They were real; they were producing, he even went up to the other well which was, I guess—it's referred to as a security or a backup in this transaction, and that well was producing. It was producing eighty (80) or one hundred (100) barrels a day....

I felt that if anything happened, if the financing could not occur, there would be a way through oil production to reimburse Mr. Tassinari for any exposure. (TR1.93,L.23-25; TR1.94,L.1-25; TR1.95,L.1-9 and 15-17).

Respondent's testimony as set forth above, supports the referee's finding.

The referee's finding is also supported by the testimony of Mr. Tassinari. Mr. Tassinari testified that he paid respondent \$2,942.93 for attorney's fees and expenses to travel to Texas, to deliver a check to D.C. Wheeler, and to protect his interest by verifying the existence of a contract for the described in purchase of the oil leases the June, 1984. agreement. (TR1.21,L.19-25; TR1.22, L.1-12).

Again, the respondent argues that The Bar's Complaint does not charge him with the responsibility of protecting Mr. Tassinari's interest, and that The Bar's Complaint does not allege an attorney/client relationship.

Although The Bar's Complaint does not specifically state that an attorney/client relationship existed between the respondent and Mr. Tassinari, it does allege that Mr. Tassinari paid the respondent attorney's fees of \$2,500.00 and air fare expenses to Texas of \$442.93. (C. at p.2).

Furthermore, as discussed in the proceeding argument, The Florida Bar vs. Stillman, supra, provides that it is proper for the referee to include in his report information not charged in The Bar's Complaint, since evidence of unethical conduct is relevant to the respondent's fitness to practice law.

By reason of the foregoing, the referee's finding with respect to the respondent's failure to protect Mr. Tassinari's interest should be upheld.

THE REFEREE'S RECOMMENDATION OF DISBARMENT
IS APPROPRIATE BASED ON THE CLEAR AND CONVINCING
EVIDENCE SHOWING CONVERSION OF CLIENT FUNDS AND
CONDUCT INVOLVING FRAUD, DECEIT OR MISREPRESENTATION.

The respondent argues, in his initial brief, that the referee's recommendation of disbarment is inappropriate because there was no evidence to support the referee's findings that the respondent converted client funds to his own use and that respondent violated DR 1-102(A)(4).

The Bar takes issue with respondent's argument. referee's findings of fact are presumed to be correct and should upheld unless clearly erroneous or lacking evidentiary be support." The Florida Bar vs. Stalnaker, 485 So.2d 815, 816 (Fla. 1986); The Florida Bar vs. McCain, 361 So.2d 706 (Fla. 1978), The Florida Bar vs. Wagner, 212 So.2d 770, 772 (Fla. Rule 3-7.6(c)(5), 1968). Further, Rules of Discipline, specifically states that, "Upon review, the burden shall be upon the party seeking review to demonstrate that a Report of Referee sought to be reviewed is erroneous, unlawful, or unjustified." Respondent has not sustained his burden. Instead, respondent attempts to excuse or justify his behavior by unsupported allegations and facts.

As discussed in the preceding arguments, the referee's findings, which are challenged by respondent, are supported by clear and convincing evidence.

In review, the following facts taken from the record constitute clear and convincing evidence of respondent's

- violation of DR 1-102(A)(4) and Integration Rule 11.02(4):
- 1. On June 27, 1983, respondent placed Mr. Tassinari's mortgage loan proceeds of \$450,000.00 into his trust account. (TR1.90,L.8-12 and 20-24; R. Bar Exhibit #4).
- 2. Mr. Tassinari authorized the respondent to pay Mr. D.C. Wheeler the sum of \$234,325.00 from the loan proceeds in respondent's trust account. (TR1.21,L.22-25; R. Bar Exhibit #2).
- 3. The respondent only paid D.C. Wheeler the sum of \$210,825.00 rather than \$234,325.00 as instructed. (TR1.27,L.16-25; TR1.127,L.14-25, TR1.128,L.1-7; R. Bar Exhibit #4).
- 4. The respondent had Mr. Wheeler sign an addendum agreement acknowledging receipt of \$234,325.00 rather than \$210,825.00. (R. Bar Exhibit #3).
- 5. When Mr. Tassinari discovered that the respondent paid Mr. Wheeler \$210,825.00 rather than \$234,325.00, he confronted the respondent and was told that Mr. Wheeler owed respondent the difference. (TR1.53,L.4-14).
- 6. Mr Tassinari authorized the respondent to pay \$40,500.00 of the loan proceeds in respondent's trust account to MacDill Columbus Corporation for interest on the \$450,000.00 loan. (TR1.22,L.16-25, TR1.23,L.1-6; and R. Bar Exhibit #2).
- 7. Respondent failed to pay \$20,250.00 worth of interest payments on the loan, to MacDill Columbus Corporation. (TR1.98,L.23-25, TR1.99,L.1-15; R. Bar Exhibit #4).
- 8. On October 18, 1984, the respondent's trust account reflected a balance of \$1,638.53. On the same date, respondent's

trust account should have maintained a minimum balance of \$43,750.00, to cover the \$23,500.00 not paid to D.C. Wheeler plus \$20,250.00 worth of interest payments not paid to MacDill Columbus Corporation. (R. Bar Exhibit #4).

- 9. On December 17, 1984, respondent's trust account was closed by the bank for an overdraft in the amount of \$21,369.16.

 (R. Bar Exhibit #4).
- 10. As of the final hearing, Mr. Tassinari had neither reimbursed the \$23,500.00 not paid by respondent to D.C. Wheeler nor had he been reimbursed the \$20,250.00 worth of interest reserve held by the respondent in his trust account for Mr. Tassinari. (TR1.117,L.2-7).

A summary of the above shows that Mr. Tassinari entrusted the respondent with \$450,000.00 of his funds; the funds were placed in respondent's trust account for a specific purpose; Mr. Tassinari's funds were not applied to the purpose they were intended although he was deceived into believing otherwise; and Mr. Tassinari has not been reimbursed his missing trust funds of \$43,750.00 even though a demand was made. These facts clearly constitute a violation of Integration Rule 11.02(4), and DR 1-102(A)(4) and, therefore, the referee's findings are supported by the record.

In addition to finding respondent guilty of violating Integration Rule 11.02(4), and DR 1-102(A)(4), the referee also found the respondent guilty of violating Integration Rule 11.02(4)(b), The Florida Bar Bylaws Section 11.02(4)(c)2, Bylaws

Section 11.02(4)2e, Bylaws Section 11.02(4)(c)2f, Bylaws Section 11.02(4)(c)3a, Bylaws Section 11.02(4)(c)3b, Bylaws Section 11.02(4)(c)3c, Bylaws Section 11.02(4)(c)2b, Bylaws Section 11.02(4)(c)2c, DR 1-102(A)(6), and DR 9-102(A).

Respondent argues that a public reprimand is the appropriate discipline for this case. In arguing for a public reprimand, respondent cites several cases, none of which deals with misconduct as serious as respondent's misconduct. The cases cited by respondent deal with minor technical violations of trust accounting procedures and trust account shortages which were restored by the accused attorney.

In this case, respondent converted client trust funds to his own use, he failed to replace the misappropriated funds, and his trust accounting procedures were so inadequate that The Florida Bar Auditor, Pedro J. Pizarro, could not perform a comprehensive analysis of the respondent's trust account.

The referee's recommendation of disbarment in this case is supported by recent case law involving similar misconduct and by current standards for imposing laywer sanctions. In The Florida Bar vs. Breed, 378 So.2d 783 (Fla. 1979), the referee found that Breed converted client trust funds to his own use and recommended disbarment. In recommending disbarment, the referee expressed the following:

[&]quot;If one looks strictly at the conduct of a lawyer's practice, the misuse of clients' funds, whether it be using commingled funds or otherwise, is certainly one of the most serious offenses a lawyer can commit. Few offenses have such an adverse public

impact... The willful misappropriation of client funds should be The Bar's equivalent of a capital offense, there should be no excuses. (Breed, at 784).

This Court disapproved the referee's recommendation of disbarment since disciplinary proceedings involving similar misconduct had not resulted in disbarment in the past; however, in disapproving the referee's recommendation, this Court issued a warning to the legal profession by stating the following:

"We give notice, however, to the legal profession of this state that henceforth we will not be reluctant to disbar an attorney for this type of offense even though no client is injured." (Breed, at 785)

Since Breed, this Court has disbarred attorneys who have misappropriated client trust funds. See The Florida Bar vs. Davis, 474 So.2d 1165 (Fla. 1985); The Florida Bar vs. Rodman, 474 So.2d 1176 (Fla. 1985); The Florida Bar vs. Knowles, 500 So.2d 140 (Fla. 1986); The Florida Bar vs. Pierce, 498 So.2d 431 (Fla. 1986); The Florida Bar vs. Davidson, 504 So.2d 1237 (Fla. 1987); and The Florida Bar vs. Leopold, 399, So.2d 978 (Fla. In The Florida Bar vs. Leopold, supra, misappropriated funds from clients' trust accounts for personal use and commingled private funds with trust account funds. Leopold repaid, to his clients, all misappropriated trust funds except approximately \$1,700.00 which was being held in the Court registry because of a dispute over ownership. In addition, Leopold had a prior disciplinary record which reflected a private reprimand in 1966 and a public reprimand in 1975. The referee in Leopold recommended that Leopold be suspended for two (2) years.

The Florida Bar sought review ofthe referee's recommendation, arguing that disbarment was the appropriate discipline for Leopold's misconduct. This Court held that Leopold exhibited inability to conduct his an activities according to the profession's standards in light of his previous disciplinary record. In such regards, this Court stated:

"Considering this prior misconduct with his present reprehensible misconduct-one of the most serious offenses a lawyer can commit-in determining the appropriate discipline, we agree with The Florida Bar that disbarment of Leopold is warranted". (Leopold, at 979).

The respondent's misconduct in this case is as serious as the misconduct of Leopold. As in Leopold, the respondent converted client trust funds to his own use, and he has a prior disciplinary record of a public reprimand. However, contrary to Leopold, the respondent did not make restitution to his client.

According to Florida's Standards for Imposing Sanctions (hereinafter referred to as The Standards) approved by Bar's Board of Governors The Florida in November, sanction disbarment is the appropriate for respondent's misconduct.

The following section of The Standards applies to respondent's misconduct in this case:

Section 4.1 "Failure To Preserve The Client's Property": Under this section, disbarment is appropriate when a laywer intentionally or knowingly converts client property regardless of injury or potential injury.

Under Section 4.1, aggravating and mitigating factors can be considered in determining whether the appropriate sanction for an attorney's conduct should be increased or decreased.

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